ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

RECEIVED

DEC 16 2016

Appeal from Abbeville County  
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KARLITA PHILLIPS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002334

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. PACHAK  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in only allowing 5 peremptory challenges for accessory before the fact of murder when it carries the same sentence as murder?

II. Whether the trial court erred in denying defense counsel's motion for a directed verdict to the charge of accessory before the fact of murder when appellant was present at the scene of the murder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of accessory before the fact of murder and using a minor to commit a violent felony after a jury trial held on July 15, 2015, and from July 20-23, 2015, before the Honorable Frank R. Addy in Abbeville County. Respective sentences of life imprisonment and fifteen (15) years were imposed. Patricia Bolen, Esquire and Janna Nelson, Esquire were the defense attorneys. David M. Stumbo, Esquire and Yates Brown, Esquire were the solicitors.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT I

The trial court erred in only allowing 5 peremptory challenges for the charge of accessory before the fact of murder because it carries the same penalty as murder which allows 10 peremptory challenges.

The trial judge announced to the jury panel that they were going to proceed with selecting a jury and that the defense would have 10 strikes and the State would have 5 strikes. (R. p. 20, ll. 8-11)<sup>1</sup> There was a notation of a sidebar being held and the trial judge said, “Corrections. Strikes will be five and five.” (R. p.21, ll. 7-9) After the jury exited the courtroom, the trial judge put on the record what was said at the sidebar. After he said the defense would be allowed 5 challenges, defense counsel said they felt they should have 10. The judge showed them S.C. Code §14-7-1110 which identifies what crimes are entitled to 10 challenges. (R. p. 31, line 25 – p. 32, line 16)

Defense counsel noted that 10 strikes should have been allowed as the accessory charge carried the same penalty as murder. She also said if she had been given 10 strikes she would have used one of them to strike the young woman, Ms. Stone, whose grandfather was the Abbeville County Sheriff. The trial judge noted the objection when it was made and said the record was protected. (R. p. 32, line 19 – p. 33, line 17)

The trial court’s decision in this case was in error. The pertinent part of the S.C. Code §14-7-1110 reads as follows:

Any person who is arraigned for the crime of murder, manslaughter, burglary, arson, criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, grand larceny, or breach of trust when it is punishable as for grand larceny, perjury, or forgery is entitled to peremptory challenges not exceeding ten, and the State in

---

<sup>1</sup> All transcript page numbers refer to the July 20-23, 2015 transcript unless noted otherwise.

these cases is entitled to peremptory challenges not exceeding five. Any person who is indicted for any crime or offense other than those enumerated above has the right to peremptory challenges not exceeding five, and the State in these cases is entitled to peremptory challenges not exceeding five.

Against this legal background one should note, the legal maxim that penal states are to be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant. State v. Cutler, 274 S.C. 376, 264 S.E.2d 420 (1980). Accessory before the fact of murder carries the same penalty as murder and should be allowed ten peremptory challenges as does a charge of murder. To interpret the statute otherwise leads to an absurd result. State v. Allen, 314 S.C. 539, 541, 431 S.E. 2d 563, 564 (1993).

## ARGUMENT II

The trial court erred in denying defense counsel's motion for a directed verdict to the charge of accessory before the fact of murder because appellant was present at the scene of the murder.

The indictment charging appellant with murder alleged that on or between the dates of February 1, 2013, and March 25, 2013, in Abbeville County she did feloniously, willfully, and unlawfully aid in the commission of a felony or was an accessory before the fact in the commission of a felony by counseling, hiring, or otherwise procuring the felony to be committed, to wit: murder.

Appellant was also charged with using a minor to commit a felony in that she did willfully, unlawfully, and knowingly did use, solicit, direct, hire, persuade, induce, entice, coerce, or employ a person under 18 years of age, Tavarious Settles, to commit the crime of murder.

The State's theory of the case was that appellant wanted her estranged husband, Dale Phillip, Jr., murdered. Dale lived with his parents along with his younger brother Jamil Phillips. On March 25, 2013, appellant's car was used to drive to the Phillip's residence and Tavarious Settles, also known as, Purp, thought he was shooting Dale Phillips when in reality he shot Jamil Phillips. Cigarette butts found at the scene of the shooting had DNA which matched that of Purp's DNA. (R. p. 34, line 22 – p. 38, line 15)

Appellant gave several statements to the police. First she denied any involvement in the incident. (R. p. 155, line 12 – p. 156, line 9) Then she admitted loaning her car to Purp. She said she did not pull the trigger but she then said she took Purp to the house. She said she got the ball rolling. (R. p. 184, ll. 1-20) Later, she said in another statement that she just wanted somebody to beat her husband up. It would be better to do it at his house. Purp said he would do it. She said she never wanted her ex-husband murdered by Purp. (R. p. 234, line 24 – p. 296, line 16)

Purp testified for the State. He was 16 years old back in March of 2013. He was in a relationship with appellant. He shot Jamil Phillips with a .38 caliber revolver. The intended target was appellant's husband. Appellant wanted the insurance money. (R. p. 338, line 20 – p. 340, line 14) Appellant drove her car to the Phillip's residence on the evening of the shooting. She took Purp with her. Purp was in the bushes before he shot Jamil. He was on the side between the house and the car. He was smoking cigarettes at the scene. (R. p. 341, ll. 1-17) Purp said he ran up and started shooting when Jamil was on the front porch. Appellant was in her car. (R. p. 342, ll. 1-14)

After the State rested their case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict to the charge of accessory before the fact of murder because the State failed to prove an essential element of the crime which was appellant's absence from the scene of the crime. The corpus delicti of the crime has to be proven without appellant's statement.<sup>2</sup> The evidence that appellant was at the scene of the crime came from Purp's testimony during the trial. (R. p. 356, line 6 – p. 357, line 13)

It is obvious that the State was relying on their theory of the case as an accessory before the fact before they heard Purp's testimony which showed appellant was at the scene. If appellant had driven Purp to the scene of an armed robbery and then drove him away from the scene she would not have been an accessory before the fact of armed robbery. Rather, she would have been charged under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. The State could have done that also in this case.

---

<sup>2</sup> The concept of having to have proof from other than a Defendant's statement is not new in South Carolina. A conviction cannot be had on the extra-judicial confessions of a defendant unless they are corroborated by proof aliunde of the corpus delicti. State v. Osborne, 335 S.C. 172, 516 S.E.2d 201 (1999); State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 381, 468 S.E.2d 656 (1996); Brown v. State, 307 S.C. 465, 415 S.E. 2d 811 (1992). See also, "Proof of the Corpus Delicti Aliunde the Defendant's Confession," 103 U. Pa. L. Rev. 638 (1955).

The trial court denied the motion for a directed verdict to the accessory before the fact of murder charge finding that even independent of appellant's statements, a jury could find that appellant was not at the scene of the crime! (R. p. 360, ll. 7-22) That ruling was in error. It is clear that to be an accessory before the fact of murder the accused cannot be present at the scene when the crime was committed. State v. Smith, 316 S.C. 53, 447 S.E.2d 175 (1993); State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). In Smith, the lower court's grant of a new trial was upheld by the Supreme Court on the accessory before the fact of a murder charge. The court noted that there was no evidence to support the accessory charge but Smith did not appeal the denial of the directed verdict motion, so the only relief they could give him was a new trial. In Gentry, there was a factual basis for sending the case to the jury because a second shooter and the defendant both testified that the defendant was not at the scene.<sup>3</sup>