ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Abbeville County  
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2015-002334

---

RECEIVED

DEC 02 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

KARLITA DESEAN PHILLIPS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29648  
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge correctly granted Appellant a maximum of five peremptory challenges during the jury selection process because, based on the plain and unambiguous language of S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1110, a criminal defendant charged with the offenses with which Appellant was indicted is only entitled to five peremptory challenges when selecting a jury.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by granting her only five peremptory challenges during the jury selection process as opposed to ten. In support of that contention, Appellant quotes the pertinent language from Section 14-7-1110 of the South Carolina Code of Laws that does **not** identify the offenses with which she was charged as offenses for which she would have been entitled to ten peremptory challenges while nonetheless maintaining she should have received ten peremptory challenges in light of the fact accessory before the fact to murder carries the same penalty as murder, which is an offense for which a criminal defendant in South Carolina would, in fact, be entitled to ten peremptory challenges. Significantly, based directly on the clear and unambiguous statutory language quoted by Appellant in support of her argument on appeal, the trial judge committed no error in granting Appellant a maximum of five peremptory challenges during the jury selection process as Appellant was **not** charged with any offenses identified by the legislature in Section 14-7-1110 as offenses for which a criminal defendant in our state would be entitled to ten peremptory challenges. Accordingly, Appellant's challenge to the manner in which the jury was selected in her case is wholly lacking in merit. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, a defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) ("The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the

United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.”). That right guarantees to a defendant a trial by a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 96, 671 S.E.2d 619, 633 (Ct. App. 2008); see U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (“The right to trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury[.]”); see also State v. Rogers, 263 S.C. 373, 382, 210 S.E.2d 604, 609 (1974) (“[T]he law is well settled that the defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury or jurors and has the right only to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.”). Importantly, it is the duty of the trial judge to ensure a jury comprised solely of fair, impartial, and unbiased jurors ultimately decides a defendant’s case. State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 43, 501 S.E.2d 116, 119 (1998).

One mechanism used by courts to secure a criminal defendant’s right to a fair trial is the peremptory challenge. United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 316 (2000); see Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88 (1988) (“[Peremptory challenges] are a means to achieve the end of an impartial jury.”). Notably, “[t]he peremptory challenge is part of our common-law heritage.” Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. at 311. However, peremptory challenges are not constitutionally required in order for a defendant to receive a fair trial, and, thus, states are **not** mandated to grant defendants peremptory challenges during the jury selection process. See id. (“[S]uch challenges are auxiliary; unlike the right to an impartial jury guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, peremptory challenges are not of federal constitutional dimension.”); see Rivera v. Illinois, 556 U.S. 148, 152 (2009) (recognizing states may withhold peremptory challenges entirely without infringing on a defendant’s constitutional rights). As a result, “it is for the State to determine the

number of peremptory challenges allowed and to define their purpose and the manner of their exercise.” Ross, 487 U.S. at 89; see Rivera, 556 U.S. at 152 (“The right to exercise peremptory challenges in state court is determined by state law.”).

In South Carolina, our legislature has mandated any defendant charged with the crimes of “murder, manslaughter, burglary, arson, criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, grand larceny, . . . breach of trust when it is punishable as for grand larceny, perjury, or forgery” is entitled to exercise up to ten peremptory challenges during the jury selection process. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1110. Moreover, our legislature has mandated any defendant charged with any crime or offense **other** than the ones it specifically identified as warranting ten peremptory challenges only has a right to no more than five peremptory challenges. Id. Significantly, a trial judge is not permitted to deny or impair a defendant’s right to a peremptory challenge in South Carolina, and “no showing of actual prejudice is required to find reversible error” if such a denial or impairment occurs. State v. Short, 333 S.C. 473, 477, 511 S.E.2d 358, 360 (1999); see Ross, 487 U.S. at 89 (“[T]he ‘right’ to peremptory challenges is ‘denied or impaired’ only if the defendant does not receive that which state law provides.”). However, “[b]efore reversible error can be found, the complaining party must of course establish the denial of his right to exercise a peremptory challenge.” Short, 333 S.C. at 478, 511 S.E.2d at 361.

In the case sub judice, Appellant was not charged with “murder, manslaughter, burglary, arson, criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, grand larceny, . . . breach of trust when it is punishable as for grand larceny, perjury, or forgery[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1110. Instead, she was charged with accessory before the fact to murder and using a minor to commit a felony. As neither of those offenses was murder, manslaughter, burglary, arson, criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, grand larceny, breach of trust when it is punishable as for grand larceny, perjury,

or forgery, Appellant was **not** statutorily entitled to ten peremptory challenges based on the plain and unambiguous language of Section 14-7-1110. See id. (“Any person who is indicted for any crime or offenses **other than** [murder, manslaughter, burglary, arson, criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, grand larceny, breach of trust when it is punishable as for grand larceny, perjury, or forgery] has the right to peremptory challenges **not exceeding five**[.]” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 366-367, 574 S.E.2d 203, 206-207 (Ct. App. 2002) (“If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to employ rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.”).

In arguing to the contrary on appeal, Appellant notes accessory before the fact to murder carries the same penalty as murder and, for that reason, asserts she should have been entitled to more peremptory challenges than she received. Importantly though, the legislature in South Carolina has **not** mandated criminal defendants are entitled to more peremptory challenges based on the length of the potential punishment they are facing and, instead, has elected to enumerate specific offenses for which it believes more peremptory challenges are warranted.<sup>7</sup> See State v. Bailey, 273 S.C. 467, 469, 257 S.E.2d 231, 232 (1979) (“ ‘Generally speaking, peremptory challenges arise from the exercise of a privilege granted by the legislative authority. They are allowed by legislatures as an act of grace, rest entirely within the discretion of legislatures, can be exercised as a matter of right only to the extent allowed by statute, and **must be taken subject to the legislative limitations placed upon the manner of their exercise.**’ ” (emphasis

---

<sup>7</sup> Notably, kidnapping, which is an offense **not** enumerated in Section 14-7-1110 as an offense warranting ten peremptory challenges, carries a much higher potential penalty than offenses such as perjury and forgery, which are offenses that are specifically enumerated in the statute as offenses warranting ten peremptory challenges. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (authorizing the imposition of up to a thirty-year term of imprisonment for kidnapping); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-10 (authorizing the imposition of either a fine, up to a five-year term of imprisonment, or both for the most serious version of perjury); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-10 (authorizing the imposition of either a fine, up to a ten-year term of imprisonment, or both for the most serious version of forgery).

added and citation omitted)); see also Rivera, 556 U.S. at 152 (recognizing “state law controls the existence and exercise of peremptory challenges”). Accordingly, Appellant was not entitled to more peremptory challenges during her trial based on the potential penalty she was facing.

Furthermore, in arguing the trial judge erred in conducting the jury selection process, Appellant appears to suggest she was entitled to more peremptory challenges in light of the fact penal statutes are required to be strictly construed in favor of the defendant pursuant to our rules of statutory construction. Notably though, the pertinent language of Section 14-7-1110 clearly and unambiguously indicates the offenses with which Appellant was charged only entitled her to five peremptory challenges during the jury selection process. See State v. Mills, 360 S.C. 621, 624, 602 S.E.2d 750, 752 (2004) (“Although a penal statute must be strictly construed against the State, when the terms of the statute are clear and unambiguous, [the court] is constrained to give them their literal meaning.”); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 102, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004) (“The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. . . . This Court must apply clear and unambiguous terms of a statute according to their literal meaning.” (citations omitted)). As a result, the trial judge properly applied that statutory language in limiting Appellant to a maximum of five peremptory challenges during trial.

Because the trial judge properly granted Appellant a maximum of five peremptory challenges, which was all she was entitled to based on the plain and unambiguous language of Section 14-7-1110, the trial judge committed no error in conducting the jury selection process in Appellant’s case and did not deny or impair Appellant’s right to peremptory challenges in any manner. Cf. State v. Workman, 15 S.C. 540, 543-544 (1881) (“It is very clear that the prisoners were properly restricted to five peremptory challenges each. The statute designates specifically the cases in which twenty peremptory challenges are allowed, and declares that in other cases the

right of peremptory challenge of the part of the accused shall be limited to five. The offence for which these defendants were indicted does not fall within any of the classes in which twenty peremptory challenges are allowed.” (citation omitted)); State v. Pope, 9 S.C. 273, 274-275 (1878) (holding Pope **clearly** was not entitled to the twenty peremptory challenges to which defendants charged with arson were statutorily entitled because Pope was not charged with arson as contemplated by the peremptory challenge statute in effect at the time of his trial).

Accordingly, Appellant has wholly failed to establish she was entitled to a reversal of her conviction based upon the manner in which the jury was selected in her case. See Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. at 317 (recognizing Martinez-Salazar was not entitled to a reversal of his conviction where he received precisely what the law provided in regard to the number of peremptory challenges during the jury selection process). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the evidence and testimony presented during Appellant's trial, when viewed in a light most favorable to the State as required, established Appellant's guilt for all the elements of accessory before the fact to murder and was sufficient to independently corroborate Appellant's statements to law enforcement such that all the evidence viewed collectively supported a reasonable belief Appellant acted as an accessory before the fact to the victim's murder.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by refusing to grant her motion for a directed verdict as to the charge of accessory before the fact to murder. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains she was, in fact, present at the scene of the murder and appears to be suggesting no evidence was presented to establish she was not actually present at the scene of crime other than her own statements. However, contrary to Appellant's contentions, the State presented evidence and testimony establishing each element of the charged offense of accessory before the fact to murder, including evidence and testimony that was sufficient to independently corroborate Appellant's statements indicating she was not present at the scene of the crime. As a result, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury for resolution of the factual disputes raised by the evidence. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

In a criminal case in South Carolina, the prosecution must present some proof of the corpus delicti of the charged offense before the case can be submitted to the jury. State v. McCombs, 335 S.C. 123, 126, 515 S.E.2d 547, 548 (Ct. App. 1999). Significantly, “[a] conviction cannot be had on the extra-judicial confessions of the defendant unless corroborated by proof aliunde of the corpus delicti.” State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 381, 384, 468 S.E.2d 656, 657 (1996). That “rule with regard to the proof of the *corpus delicti*, apart from the mere confession of the accused, proceeds upon the theory that the general fact, without which there

could be no guilt in the accused or in anyone else, must be established before anyone could be convicted of the alleged criminal act which caused it; for otherwise, the accused might be convicted when there was no criminal agency involved.” State v. Thomas, 222 S.C. 484, 486-487, 73 S.E.2d 722, 723 (1952); see also City of Easley v. Portman, 327 S.C. 593, 596, 490 S.E.2d 613, 615 (Ct. App. 1997) (“Independent proof of the defendant’s identity as the guilty party is not required to prove the *corpus delicti*.”).

Importantly, **some** proof of the corpus delicti must come from a source other than the defendant’s out-of-court statements. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 137, 551 S.E.2d 240, 253 (2001); see Opper v. United States, 348 U.S. 84, 93 (1954) (“[T]he corroborative evidence need not be sufficient, independent of the statements, to establish the *corpus delicti*.”). However, the proof necessary to satisfy that requirement may be sufficient even where the evidence is circumstantial or presumptive if it is the best evidence obtainable. McCombs, 335 S.C. at 126, 515 S.E.2d at 548. Moreover, “the corroboration rule is satisfied if the State provides sufficient independent evidence which serves to corroborate the defendant’s extra-judicial statements and, **together with such statements**, permits a reasonable belief that the crime occurred.” State v. Osborne, 335 S.C. 172, 180, 516 S.E.2d 201, 205 (1999) (emphasis added)). Notably, “[i]f the statement is independently corroborated, then **the combination of** the statement and the State’s remaining evidence may be considered by the trial court to determine if there is any evidence tending to establish the *corpus delicti*.” State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 132-133, 546 S.E.2d 202, 205 (Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added); see Smith v. United States, 348 U.S. 147, 156 (1954) (“[C]orroborative evidence does not have to prove the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, or even by a preponderance, as long as there is substantial independent evidence that the offense

has been committed, and the evidence as a whole proves beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant is guilty.”).

In a case involving a homicide, the corpus delicti of the offense generally consists of two elements: (1) the death of a human being; and (2) the criminal act of another causing the death. Brown v. State, 307 S.C. 465, 467, 415 S.E.2d 811, 812 (1992). Like other offenses, the corpus delicti of a homicide may be established by circumstantial evidence when it is the best evidence obtainable. Saltz, 346 S.C. at 137, 551 S.E.2d at 252. Furthermore, circumstantial evidence may be sufficient to establish the corpus delicti even if the cause of death cannot be determined. Brown, 307 S.C. at 467-468, 415 S.E.2d at 812; see generally State v. Owens, 293 S.C. 161, 168, 359 S.E.2d 275, 278 (1987) (finding sufficient circumstantial evidence of the corpus delicti of murder independent of Owens’s inculpatory statements where the victim’s body was never discovered but the victim’s personal habits and relationships established his sudden disappearance was most likely not a voluntary act).

Critically, if there is any evidence presented tending to establish the corpus delicti of the charged offense, it is the trial judge’s **duty** to pass that question on to the jury. State v. Dodd, 354 S.C. 13, 18, 579 S.E.2d 331, 334 (Ct. App. 2003). Thus, when presented with a motion for a directed verdict in a case where a corpus delicti argument is raised, the trial judge – just like in any other criminal case – is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997); see State v. Edwards, 173 S.C. 161, 165, 178 S.E. 277, 278 (1934) (“[The appellate court is] not here to determine the sufficiency of the evidence to justify the jury’s verdict . . . ; but [the appellate court is] concerned only with the question as to the sufficiency of that evidence to require the trial Judge to submit the issue of criminal agency to the jury.”). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion

and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”); Thomas, 222 S.C. at 487, 73 S.E.2d at 723-724 (“ ‘When there is any evidence, however slight, on which the jury may justifiably find the existence or the non-existence of material facts in issue, or if the evidence is of such character that different conclusions as to such facts reasonably may be drawn therefrom, the issues should be submitted to the jury.’ ” (citation omitted)); see also Crawford v. United States, 375 F.2d 332, 334 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“The jury question of whether there was proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt presents a stricter or higher standard than the trial court’s consideration of whether there is sufficient evidence to allow the jury to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and it rests in the unreviewable ratiocinations of twelve reasonable persons whose deliberations are protected by the highest security.”).

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is **any** direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478

(2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). "[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law." State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986); see also Crawford, 375 F.2d at 334 ("It is not the function of appellate judges to weigh the evidence and decide that if they had doubts other reasonable persons were compelled to have the same doubts. If that were the test the jury of twelve would be relegated to the very low grade function of secondary fact finders.").

In the case at bar, Appellant was indicted for accessory before the fact to murder and using a minor to commit a felony but has only challenged on appeal the sufficiency of the evidence in regard to the accessory charge. In order to prove the offense of accessory before the fact to murder, the State is required to prove: (1) the accused "either advised and agreed, urged, or in some way aided" another person to commit the offense of murder; (2) the accused was not present when the murder was committed; and (3) the murder was committed by some other person. State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 64, 447 S.E.2d 177, 181 (1993); see Mazzell v. Evatt, 88 F.3d 263, 267 (4th Cir. 1996) ("[A]n accessory before the fact cannot be present at the scene."). Thus, in order for the State to prove Appellant's guilt for the accessory charge, the State was required to show Appellant advised, urged, or aided some other person to commit an unlawful killing of another person, Appellant was not present when the killing occurred, and the killing was actually committed.

Significantly, the evidence and testimony presented during Appellant's trial established each and every element of the offense of accessory before the fact to murder, and sufficient

independent evidence was presented to corroborate Appellant's statements such that the evidence and testimony presented, when considered together with Appellant's statements, supported a reasonable belief the charged crime occurred. Turning to that evidence and testimony, direct evidence was presented establishing Settles unlawfully killed Jamil while attempting to kill Appellant's estranged husband at Appellant's behest after travelling to the scene of the crime in Appellant's car. Thus, the evidence and testimony unquestionably supported a conclusion Jamil died, Jamil's death was the result of a criminal act, and the killing was committed by someone other than Appellant with Appellant's aid and upon Appellant's urging.<sup>8</sup> Furthermore, Appellant's statements, when taken together with the other evidence and testimony establishing the elements of the accessory offense, supported a conclusion Appellant was **not** present at the scene of the crime and, instead, allowed Settles to borrow her car with one of his friends in order to commit the killing. Cf. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 104, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005) (holding the trial judge properly declined a directed verdict in light of the conflicting evidence as to whether Gentry was present during an armed robbery or absent such that he could be convicted of accessory before the fact to armed robbery where the testimony of one of Gentry's confederates indicated he was present and actively participating in the armed robbery while Gentry's statements to law enforcement indicated he was not present at the time of the armed

---

<sup>8</sup> Importantly, the evidence establishing a death occurred and the death was the result of criminal agency was sufficient to satisfy the *corpus delicti* requirement in Appellant's case in light of the underlying purpose of that requirement. See People v. King, 271 Mich. App. 235, 241, 721 N.W.2d 271, 275 (Mich. Ct. App. 2006) (“[A] requirement that there be some evidence of assistance having been rendered in order to establish the *corpus delicti* of accessory after the fact is unduly restrictive in light of the purpose of the *corpus delicti* rule. The rule exists to prevent the use of a confession to convict someone of a crime that did not occur. Once it is established that a crime occurred, the defendant's statement may be introduced to establish the degree of guilt.” (footnotes omitted)). In light of that fact, Appellant's confession – regardless of whether it was corroborated by independent evidence – could properly be used to determine whether she was culpable as an accessory to the crime. See id. at 241-242, 721 N.W.2d at 275 (“[T]he *corpus delicti* requirement for a charge of accessory after the fact is satisfied when the specific injury at the hands of a criminal agency, which is established by evidence independent of the confession, is that of the underlying crime committed by the principal. Once that has been established, as it was in the case at bar, the defendant's confession may then be introduced to establish that his or her degree of culpability is that of an accessory after the fact.”).

robbery, did not take the stolen cocaine, and was waiting in a car outside the victim's residence). Moreover, Appellant's statements indicating she was not present at the time of the killing were corroborated directly by Polk's testimony indicating Settles had informed her he went to the scene of crime with a friend and circumstantially by the fact Settles killed the wrong person, which Appellant likely would have prevented had she been present at the scene since it would be logical and reasonable to infer she would have been able to recognize her estranged husband and distinguish him from another person.<sup>9</sup> See Osborne, 335 S.C. at 180, 516 S.E.2d at 205 ("Applying this rule to the facts at hand, we find the State provided sufficient independent evidence to support the trustworthiness of Respondent's statements to police. We further find this independent evidence, taken together with the statements, allowed a reasonable inference that the crime . . . was committed."); see also Dodd, 354 S.C. at 18, 579 S.E.2d at 334 ("Here, Dodd's confession to having a gun was corroborated by his threat to the clerk that he would kill her if she did not do as he told her. Although his threat, unaccompanied by any representation of a deadly weapon, would not *independently* be sufficient to establish the element of a deadly weapon, the threat *is* sufficient to corroborate Dodd's confession to being armed.").

In light of the fact the testimony and evidence presented during trial established each and every element of the charged crime, sufficient evidence existed from which the jury could rationally and logically conclude Appellant was an accessory before the fact to Jamil's murder. See Williams, 321 S.C. at 385, 468 S.E.2d at 658 ("[I]f there is any evidence tending to establish the corpus delicti, then it is the duty of the trial court to pass that question on to the jury."); cf. Brown, 307 S.C. at 468, 415 S.E.2d at 812 (holding a case was properly submitted to the jury where the evidence consisted of an inculpatory statement by Brown, evidence indicating the

---

<sup>9</sup> Notably, testimony was presented during trial establishing Jamil was at least somewhat taller and larger than Dale, Jr. (R. p. 58; p. 68).

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